No. 71907-6-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JESSE SOTO,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

KATHLEEN A. SHEA Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The trial court erred when it denied Jesse Soto's motion for a new court-appointed attorney when he reported that he had a conflict with his current counsel.

B. <u>ISSUE PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR</u>

The Sixth Amendment right to counsel entitles a defendant to conflict-free representation, and a defendant is constructively denied the right to counsel when he is forced to proceed to trial represented by an attorney with whom he has an irreconcilable conflict. When a defendant moves to discharge his court-appointed attorney, the trial court is required to perform an inquiry into the nature and extent of the purported conflict. Mr. Soto asked for a new court-appointed attorney because he believed that his current counsel had misled him while representing him in a prior matter. The court denied Mr. Soto's motion without making any inquiry into the nature and extent of the conflict and denied Mr. Soto's two subsequent motions without addressing the original conflict. Was Mr. Soto's constitutional right to counsel violated when the court denied his motions?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Redmond police officers responded to a report of malicious mischief at a ground floor apartment. 2/27/14 RP 21. Upon speaking with the couple who occupied the apartment, the man reported some "kids" had cracked their window, and the woman's statements suggested that she had interrupted an attempted burglary. 2/27/14 RP 23, 30. Before the young men ran off, the woman saw one of the men very briefly. 2/27/14 RP 28-29. She could not provide a detailed description of the man, but said that he was wearing a hooded sweatshirt with a large black and white checkered pattern. 2/27/14 RP 29.

An officer who responded to set up a perimeter of the area saw three men walking through a nearby park, one of whom was wearing a sweatshirt with a checkered pattern on the inside of the hood. 2/27/14 RP 60; 3/5/15 RP 110. This man was later identified as Jesse Soto. 3/5/14 RP 131. Using his public address system, the officer asked the men to walk over to his vehicle. 2/27/14 RP 62; 3/5/14 RP 112. Two of the men, including Mr. Soto, ran from the officer. 2/27/14 RP 63; 3/5/14 RP 113.

Another officer followed Mr. Soto as he ran through a parking structure and jumped into a pond. 2/27/14 RP 80-82; 3/6/14 RP 317-321. When Mr. Soto climbed out of the water he complied with the officer's orders. 2/27/14 RP 95; 3/6/14 RP 322. Mr. Soto was placed in handcuffs and taken back to the main road, where the woman who made the report identified Mr. Soto as the man who cracked her window based on his sweatshirt's checkered pattern. 2/27/14 RP 34, 111.

After placing Mr. Soto under arrest and performing a search of his person, the officer located a plastic bag in one of Mr. Soto's pockets with a white crystal substance which later tested positive for methamphetamine. 3/5/14 RP 161-64; 3/6/14 RP 398. The officer who chased Mr. Soto went back and checked the path he had seen Mr. Soto run. 3/6/14 RP 324. He found a shoe and gloves along the path that appeared to have no connection to Mr. Soto. 3/6/14 RP 325. He also found a handgun. 3/6/14 RP 330. There was no information that Mr. Soto was armed and no officer testified seeing Mr. Soto with a handgun or tossing anything from his person while running. 3/5/14 RP 123-24, 174, 194, 224; 3/6/14 RP 359. However, forensic testing results

showed that DNA located on the handgun matched Mr. Soto's profile. 3/10/14 RP 478.

The State charged Mr. Soto with unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree and possession of methamphetamine. CP 36-27. He was arraigned on January 7, 2013, but his case did not proceed to trial until March 5, 2014. Supp. CP (sub no. 6); 3/5/14 RP 107. On September 12, 2013, Mr. Soto moved to discharge counsel and have a new attorney appointed to represent him. 9/12/13/ RP 3-4. Although Mr. Soto explained that he felt his attorney had improperly advised him about his right to a trial in a prior case, the trial court denied Mr. Soto's request without conducting any inquiry. 9/12/13 RP 4-5. Mr. Soto moved to discharge his counsel two additional times before trial, explaining that his attorney did not respond to his requests for information or stay in contact with him. 11/21/13 RP 4-6; 2/3/14 RP 5. Each time, the court denied Mr. Soto's request without making any inquiry about the conflict initially raised by Mr. Soto. 11/21/13 RP 9; 2/3/14 RP 10.

The jury convicted Mr. Soto of both counts and sentenced Mr. Soto to 67 months incarceration with one year of community custody. CP 97-98.

D. ARGUMENT

Mr. Soto's constitutional right to counsel was violated when the trial court denied his motion for substitution of his court-appointed attorney.

a. Mr. Soto had the right to conflict-free counsel.

The Sixth Amendment provides that "[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right... to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defence." U.S. Const. amend. VI; Const. art. I, § 22. This right entitles a defendant to conflict-free representation. *Daniels v. Woodford*, 428 F.3d 1181, 1196 (9th Cir. 2005), *cert. denied* 550 U.S. 968 (2007). While the Sixth Amendment does not guarantee a "meaningful relationship" between a client and his attorney, forcing a defendant to proceed to trial represented by an attorney with whom he has an irreconcilable conflict amounts to constructive denial of the right to counsel. *Stenson v. Lambert*, 504 F.3d 873, 886 (9th Cir. 2007) (citing *Morris v. Slappy*, 461 U.S. 1, 14, 103 S.Ct. 1610, 75 L.Ed.2d 610 (1983); *Brown v. Craven*, 424 F.2d 1166, 1170 (9th Cir. 1970)).

When a defendant moves for substitution of his appointed counsel, this Court applies a three-part test to determine whether the trial court erred in denying the motion. *Daniels*, 428 F.3d at 1197; *In re Personal Restraint of Stenson*, 142 Wn.2d 710, 724, 16 P.3d 1

(2001). This Court should examine: (1) the extent of the conflict, (2) the adequacy of the inquiry, and (3) the timeliness of the motion. *Stenson*, 142 Wn.2d at 724. The denial of a defendant's motion for substitution of counsel is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *United States v. Adelzo-Gonzalez*, 268 F.3d 772, 777 (9th Cir. 2001).

b. The trial court improperly denied Mr. Soto's request for new counsel.

i. The trial court's inquiry was inadequate.

Before ruling on a motion to substitute counsel, the trial court must conduct "such necessary inquiry as might ease the defendant's dissatisfaction, distrust, and concern." *Adelzo-Gonzalez*, 268 F.3d at 777 (*quoting United States v. Garcia*, 924 F.2d 925, 926 (9th Cir. 1991)). This inquiry must also provide the court with a sufficient basis for reaching an informed decision, so the court should evaluate "the depth of any conflict between defendant and counsel, the extent of any breakdown in communication, how much time may be necessary for a new attorney to prepare, and any delay or inconvenience that may result from substitution." *Adelzo-Gonzalez*, 268 F.3d at 777.

As in *Adelzo-Gonzalez*, Mr. Soto moved three times to discharge his attorney, Scott Schmidt, and have new counsel appointed. 268 F.3d at 777; 9/12/13 RP 4; 11/21/13 RP 3; 2/3/14 RP 5. In his first

motion, Mr. Soto explained that he did not want Mr. Schmidt to represent him because he believed Mr. Schmidt had misled him while representing him in a prior case. 9/12/13 RP 4. Mr. Soto informed the court:

I would like to fire my attorney because that's why we're here. He's my attorney and went – I went to prison on similar charges and he told me to wait without telling me that I couldn't come to trial. Instead, he let me take a deal on my waive – to DOC.

So I would like to fire my attorney because I have reason, because he told me in a way without telling me that I could have gone to trial on similar charges, and he let me take a deal. I was on my way to DOC, so I would like to fire my attorney for that reason.

9/12/13 RP 4.

Despite this articulated conflict, the trial court made absolutely no inquiry. Instead, it responded to Mr. Soto's request with only one question, asking "And who do you plan on hiring?" 9/12/13 RP 4.

When Mr. Soto clarified that he was requesting different appointed counsel, the court disposed of his motion quickly, stating:

Okay. Um, let me, um, inform you that you do have a right to have counsel, there's no question there, but you do not have the right to choose the attorney that you wish to have. You're certainly free to hire one, so don't misunderstand me, but based on the information you've provided to the Court, that is an insufficient basis to grant you a new attorney, so your request is denied.

9/12/13 RP 4-5.

When Mr. Soto informed the trial court of the conflict with his attorney, the court was required to question the attorney or defendant "privately and in depth" and inquire of any available witnesses.

Daniels, 428 F.3d at 1200. "[I]n most circumstances a court can only ascertain the extent of a breakdown in communication by asking specific and targeted questions." Adelzo-Gonzalez, 268 F.3d at 777-78. The court did not make this inquiry here. It did not ask any questions of Mr. Soto or make any attempt to better understand the conflict he had raised. Indeed, the only question it asked was whether Mr. Soto planned to retain private counsel, entirely disregarding Mr. Soto's right to conflict-free appointed representation.

In Mr. Soto's second motion, he explained that he had been unable to communicate with Mr. Schmidt. 11/21/13 RP 4. He told the court:

I would like to fire my attorney because I have conflicts with him. I can't get ahold of him. I call him. I leave voice mail. There's no – there's no way I - I got - I barely got ahold of him. I've been – but I've been calling him so many times, and I finally got – and he has not come up with my – I ask him for things and I haven't gotten a response for it.

Like my discovery, I haven't gotten the rest of my discovery, or all my paperwork for my – for my courts. I

haven't got all that. And also every time we go to court... my trial gets keep [sic] continuing. He's through on the same subject for months, and I've been already here – and I don't see why it's taking – it's just taking him so long to come with that information that he needs.

11/21/13 RP 4.

The trial court questioned Mr. Soto about when he was calling Mr. Schmidt, and when Mr. Soto explained that he called during business hours, at all different times, but had only just recently reached Mr. Schmidt for the first time in months, the court asked for a response from Mr. Schmidt. 11/21/13 RP 4-6. Mr. Schmidt explained that he had been in trial and was "playing a little bit of catch-up in terms of communicating with clients." 11/21/13 RP 6. Defense counsel and the deputy prosecuting attorney then discussed the delays in the case as a result of the DNA testing. 11/21/13 RP 7-8. The trial court denied Mr. Soto's motion, once again telling Mr. Soto he had the right to hire private counsel but finding no legal basis to appoint new counsel. 11/21/13 RP 9.

It Mr. Soto's third motion to discharge counsel, he described the difficulties he continued to have in communicating with Mr. Schmidt:

I would like to make a motion to fire my attorney for his lack of help. Um, I call him and can't get ahold of him. Last time he was here, we went through the same thing. I understand he has other people he's working on, I'm

not the only person, but I don't think you should take 13 months to get the evidence that he needs.

And every time we go to court, he comes and tells the court the same thing, and I haven't seen no progress. I keep hearing the same thing that comes out of my attorney's – and I don't see anything different, you know, or anything that – that shows that – we should have been already in trial.

2/3/14 RP 5.

Referring to defense counsel's recitation of the effort he had expended securing a DNA expert, the trial court responded to Mr. Soto by saying "What did you just hear a minute ago?" and "Why don't you tell me what your attorney just said." 2/3/14 RP 5. After questioning defense counsel and the deputy prosecuting attorney about the work that had been done regarding the DNA evidence, the court again found no legal basis for Mr. Soto's motion. 2/3/14 RP 10.

At no point did the trial court acknowledge the conflict originally raised by Mr. Soto, that he did not trust Mr. Schmidt because he believed Mr. Schmidt had misled him in the resolution of a prior case. It also minimized Mr. Soto's concerns about not being in communication with Mr. Schmidt, focusing instead on the fact that Mr. Schmidt appeared to be actively working on the case. This inquiry was inadequate.

ii. Mr. Soto had completely lost trust in his attorney.

"Where a criminal defendant has, with legitimate reason, completely lost trust in his attorney, and the trial court refuses to remove the attorney, the defendant is constructively denied counsel." *Daniels*, 428 F.3d at 1198 (citing *Adelzo-Gonzalez*, 268 F.3d at 779). Even if the trial court determines that present counsel is competent, a serious breakdown in communications can result in an inadequate defense. *United States v. Nguyen*, 262 F.3d 998, 1003 (9th Cir. 2001).

Mr. Soto explained to the court that he did not trust his attorney because he believed that when Mr. Schmidt previously represented him, Mr. Schmidt had withheld critical information about his case, which ultimately caused Mr. Soto to enter a plea of guilty rather than exercise his right to trial. 9/12/13 RP 4. Although the trial court failed to inquire about this conflict, it is evident from the initial motion that Mr. Soto believed Mr. Schmidt had committed a serious breach of trust during the prior representation. 9/12/13 RP 4. This issue was further exacerbated by the fact that Mr. Schmidt requested repeated continuances, failed to remain in consistent contact with Mr. Soto, and failed to respond to Mr. Soto's requests for information. 11/21/13 RP 4; 2/3/14 RP 5. The fact that Mr. Schmidt had successfully worked to

secure a DNA rebuttal expert did not alter the fact that Mr. Soto had completely lost trust in his attorney. The court's denial of his motions constructively denied Mr. Soto his right to counsel. *Daniels*, 428 F.3d at 1198.

iii. Mr. Soto's motions were timely.

In *Adelzo-Gonzalez*, the Ninth Circuit held that when a defendant moved for the substitution of counsel six weeks before trial, and then made this motion twice more, including once on the eve of trial, all such motions were timely. 268 F.3d at 780. Although Mr. Soto initially moved for substitute counsel days before his scheduled trial date, on September 12, 2013, it was understood by both parties that Mr. Schmidt would be asking for a continuance. 9/12/13 RP 3. In fact, Mr. Soto's case did not actually proceed to trial until March 5, 2014, approximately six months after his initial motion. 3/5/14 RP 107. In the interim, Mr. Soto moved to discharge his counsel twice more: once on November 21, 2013, and once on February 3, 2014. 11/21/13 RP 4-6; 2/3/14 RP 5.

The court noted when denying the February 3, 2014, motion that if it granted the request Mr. Soto would have "a brand new lawyer who wouldn't have a clue what's going on and would have to start all over

again where [his] attorney has already been in order to understand what the evidence is." 2/3/14 RP 10. However, a motion to substitute appointed counsel should not be denied simply because it may result in delay. *Aldelzo-Gonzalez*, 268 F.3d at 780. Even if the trial court is made aware of a conflict on the eve of trial, a motion to substitute counsel is timely if the conflict is serious enough. *Daniels*, 428 F.3d at 1200. "This is particularly true where the trial court has reason to know of the conflict months before the trial but does not inquire into the conflict." *Id*.

Here, Mr. Soto requested new counsel because he believed Mr. Schmidt had withheld critical information from him while representing him in a prior matter, which had unfairly induced Mr. Soto to plead guilty. 9/12/13 RP 4. Mr. Soto made the court aware of this conflict approximately six months before trial but the court failed to make the appropriate inquiry. 9/12/13 RP 4. Given Mr. Soto's history with his attorney, it is unsurprising that in subsequent motions, he questioned his counsel's motives for seeking continuances and failure to consistently remain in communication with him. 11/21/13 RP 4; 2/3/14 RP 5. Because Mr. Soto raised an issue involving a serious conflict and the court failed to make an appropriate inquiry, Mr. Soto's motions

were timely and the court's denials of the motions were not justified by any potential delay.

c. Reversal is required.

The erroneous denial of a motion for substitute counsel is presumptively prejudicial. *Daniels*, 428 F.3d at 1199; *Nguyen*, 262 F.3d at 1005. Mr. Soto's convictions should be reversed and remanded for a new trial.

E. CONCLUSION

Mr. Soto asks that this court reverse and remand for a new trial because the court denied Mr. Soto his Sixth Amendment right to conflict-free counsel.