FILED
Apr 20, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

NO. 71907-6-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JESSE JESUS SOTO,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE JUDGE RICHARD McDERMOTT

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

> JACOB R. BROWN Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

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

C. ARGUMENT

1. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING SOTO'S MOTIONS FOR SUBSTITUTE COUNSEL.

Soto asserts that his conflict with Mr. Schmidt was so great that he constructively was denied the assistance of counsel guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment. He argues that the trial court abused its discretion by failing to grant his motions for new counsel.

Soto's claim should be rejected. First, the record does not establish that Soto and Mr. Schmidt had an irreconcilable conflict or suffered a complete breakdown in communication. Second, the trial court held an appropriate inquiry that allowed Soto to address his complaints in open court. Finally, Soto's request, made more than nine months after Mr. Schmidt's appointment, and close to scheduled trial dates, would only have caused further delay—thereby exacerbating Soto's chief complaint.

a. Standard Of Review.

A criminal defendant does not have an absolute Sixth Amendment right to choose a particular advocate. State v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 733, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997) ("Stenson I"), cert. denied, 523 U.S. 1008 (1998). Nor does the Sixth Amendment guarantee a "meaningful relationship" between the defendant and his attorney. Morris v. Slappy, 461 U.S. 1, 13-14, 103 S. Ct. 1610, 75 L. Ed. 2d 610 (1983). A general loss of confidence or trust in counsel is not sufficient to warrant new counsel. Stenson I, 132 Wn.2d at 734; State v. Varga, 151 Wn.2d 179, 200, 86 P.3d 139 (2004).

⁷ The right to counsel of choice does not extend to a defendant who requires appointed counsel. <u>United States v. Gonzalez-Lopez</u>, 548 U.S. 140, 144, 126 S. Ct. 2557, 165 L. Ed. 2d 409 (2006) (citing <u>Wheat v. United States</u>, 486 U.S. 153, 159, 108 S. Ct. 1692, 100 L. Ed. 2d 140 (1988)).

To justify appointment of new counsel, a defendant must show good cause, such as (1) a conflict of interest, (2) an irreconcilable conflict, or (3) a complete breakdown in communication. Stenson I, 132 Wn.2d at 734. When reviewing a trial court's refusal to appoint new counsel, the court considers: (1) the extent of the conflict, (2) the adequacy of the inquiry, and (3) the timeliness of the motion. State v. Cross, 156 Wn.2d 580, 607, 132 P.3d 80, cert. denied, 549 U.S. 1022 (2006).

Whether an indigent defendant's dissatisfaction with appointed counsel is meritorious and justifies appointment of new counsel is within the trial court's discretion. Stenson I, 132 Wn.2d at 733. A trial court abuses its discretion when no reasonable person would adopt the view taken by the trial court. State v. Greiff, 141 Wn.2d 910, 921, 10 P.3d 390 (2000).

b. The Trial Court Properly Exercised Its Discretion.

As noted, an appellate court considers three factors in reviewing the denial of a motion for new appointed counsel. <u>Cross</u>, 156 Wn.2d at 607. These factors are discussed in turn, below.

i. The extent of the conflict did not warrant new appointed counsel.

A conflict amounts to good cause to appoint new counsel if it constitutes a conflict of interest, an irreconcilable conflict, or a complete

breakdown in communication. <u>Stenson I</u>, 132 Wn.2d at 734. Soto appears to allege only two of these bases: that he and Mr. Schmidt had an irreconcilable conflict and a complete breakdown in communication. The record does not bear out these claims.

First, there was no irreconcilable conflict. To determine whether there was an irreconcilable conflict, a court considers the nature and extent of the breakdown in the attorney-client relationship and its effect on the representation actually provided. In re Pers. Restraint of Stenson, 142 Wn.2d 710, 724, 16 P.3d 1 (2001) ("Stenson II"); State v. Thompson, 169 Wn. App. 436, 458, 290 P.3d 996 (2012); State v. Schaller, 143 Wn. App. 258, 270, 177 P.3d 1139 (2007). An irreconcilable conflict will be found only if the conflict resulted in a "complete denial of counsel." Schaller, 143 Wn. App. at 268 (citing Stenson II, 142 Wn.2d at 722). So long as the representation was adequate, the defendant bears the burden of showing prejudice. Thompson, 169 Wn. App. 458 (citing Schaller, 143 Wn. App. at 270 (citing Cross, 156 Wn.2d at 580)).

In his first motion for new appointed counsel, when given a chance to articulate his grievances in open court, Soto made only vague, unintelligible complaints about a previous case in which Mr. Schmidt apparently defended him against similar charges. 2RP 4. Soto said first that Mr. Schmidt told him "to wait without telling [him] that [he] couldn't

come to trial." 2RP 4. This appears to mean that Mr. Schmidt had failed to tell Soto *not* to go to trial—i.e., had allowed him to go to trial. But then, Soto said that Mr. Schmidt "told [him] in a way without telling [him] that [he] could have gone to trial on similar charges, and he let [him] take a deal." 2RP 4. Here, Soto appears to have complained that Mr. Schmidt intimated (at some point) that Soto could have gone to trial, but did not prevent him from pleading guilty.

On appeal, Soto urges a rather specific interpretation of these comments: that he "explained to the court that he did not trust his attorney because he believed that when Mr. Schmidt previously represented him, Mr. Schmidt had withheld critical information about his case, which ultimately caused Mr. Soto to enter a plea of guilty rather than exercise his right to trial," and that he therefore "believed that Mr. Schmidt had committed a serious breach of trust during the prior representation." Br. of App't at 11 (citing 2RP 4).

This simply is not what Soto said. The most that can be gleaned from Soto's actual comments is that Mr. Schmidt previously represented him against similar charges, that Soto pleaded guilty, and that Mr. Schmidt later possibly implied—"told [him] in a way without telling [him]," 2RP 4—that he could have demanded a trial, instead. There is no indication that Mr. Schmidt actually affirmatively misadvised Soto at any point. It is

just as likely that he made some comment that Soto should have, in retrospect, gone to trial—perhaps in light of Soto's new charges.

Regardless, it was within the trial court's discretion to determine that Soto's vague, contradictory allegations were insufficient to establish an irreconcilable conflict.⁸

Neither can Soto's frustrations with the length of time that it took for the defense DNA expert to complete his analysis amount to an irreconcilable conflict with his attorney. Mr. Schmidt explained, and the prosecutor confirmed, that a mishap at the Washington State Patrol Crime Laboratory had delayed the completion of the expert witness's report. 3RP 6-8; 4RP 4, 6-9. Soto even acknowledged these unexpected delays; he just maintained that, in his opinion, it should not have taken so long for a forensic geneticist to isolate a contaminated genetic profile and prepare findings on the crime laboratory's methodology for comparing DNA samples. 3RP 8; 4RP 6, 9-10. But the record does not establish that Soto was in any position to opine on these issues. His attorney was, in the good

⁸ The appellate court is not limited to the reasons articulated by the trial court and may affirm the trial court on any basis that is supported by the record. State v. Henderson, 34 Wn. App. 865, 870-71, 664 P.2d 1291 (1983); see also RAP 2.5(a) ("A party may present a ground for affirming a trial court decision which was not presented to the trial court if the record has been sufficiently developed to fairly consider the ground."). Thus, even if the trial court did not expressly articulate the same reasoning presented here, its ruling should be affirmed so long as any reasonable judge would have ruled the same way.

faith discharge of his duties, pursuing critical evidence to mount an effective defense. There was no irreconcilable conflict.

Soto relies on cases of the Ninth Circuit for the proposition that, "Where a criminal defendant has, with legitimate reason, completely lost trust in his attorney, and the trial court refuses to remove the attorney, the defendant is constructively denied counsel." Br. of App't at 11 (quoting Daniels v. Woodford, 428 F.3d 1181, 1198 (9th Cir. 2005) (citing United States v. Adelzo-Gonzalez, 268 F.3d 772, 779 (9th Cir. 2001)) (emphasis added). Soto's reliance on this principle is unavailing because he failed below to articulate a legitimate reason for his loss of trust. The burden was upon him to do so.

Washington courts have declined to find an irreconcilable conflict even in cases involving an egregious breakdown of the attorney-client relationship. Recently, in <u>Thompson</u>, the defendant accused his public defender of being corrupt and prejudiced, and threatened repeatedly to kill him. 169 Wn. App. at 449-56. He made multiple motions for a new attorney or to proceed *pro se*. <u>Id.</u> at 449-57. His public defender also moved multiple times to withdraw, informing the court that there was "no way" that he could effectively represent the defendant. <u>Id.</u> at 451. The court found no irreconcilable conflict because the public defender provided effective representation, even in the face of such tumult, and

because the defendant could not show prejudice. <u>Id.</u> at 458-61. Likewise, in the instant case, there is no indication that Soto's complaints about his previous case had any effect on the representation provided by Mr. Schmidt. Soto's claim fails.

Second, the record also does not support Soto's claim that he and Mr. Schmidt suffered a complete breakdown in communication. Soto complained that Mr. Schmidt was slow to return his calls and to provide him with copies of some unspecified discovery. 3RP 4-6; 4RP 5. But Mr. Schmidt explained to the trial court that he had been in trial continuously for months and was working on catching up with client communications. 3RP 6. He had also informed Soto of the constraints of his schedule. 3RP 7. Soto admitted that he had only been assuming that Mr. Schmidt was available and at his office during the times that Soto called to speak to him. 3RP 5-6. He also admitted that he eventually was able to reach Mr. Schmidt. 3RP 6. Soto does not explain on appeal how the scheduling constraints of a busy, publically-appointed attorney—who still communicates with his client, even if not as quickly as that client would prefer—amount to a complete breakdown in communications.

Further, even if Mr. Schmidt was unable promptly to return Soto's phone calls because of his trial schedule, Mr. Schmidt was still able to

provide Soto with effective representation. Thus, Soto bears the burden of showing that the complained-of difficulty in communicating caused him prejudice. Thompson, 169 Wn. App. 458 (citing Schaller, 143 Wn. App. at 270 (citing Cross, 156 Wn.2d at 580)). He has not made this showing.

The State had evidence that the chances of the DNA found on the handgun belonging to someone other than Soto were only one in 530 quintillion. 9RP 478. Mr. Schmidt did what was necessary to adequately defend Soto by securing expert testimony to combat this evidence. The delay in securing this testimony cannot be imputed to Mr. Schmidt, because, as both he and the prosecutor explained, the delay was caused by the Crime Laboratory. 3RP 7-8; 4RP 3-4, 6-8.

Although courts "have held that a complete breakdown of communication may occur even where counsel is providing competent representation," they have done so "only in extreme cases." Stenson v. Lambert, 504 F.3d 873, 887 (9th Cir. 2007) ("Stenson III") (citing United States v. Nguyen, 262 F.3d 998, 1003 (9th Cir. 2001) (defendant "left to fend for himself" by attorney who would "walk out" on him and refuse to explain his case)). The instant case entailed neither a complete breakdown

⁹ In fact, Soto does not claim that he received ineffective representation.

in communications nor extreme circumstances. Soto's convictions should be affirmed.

ii. The trial court conducted an adequate inquiry.

A trial court's inquiry into the basis of a defendant's motion for new appointed counsel is adequate when the court "allow[s] the defendant and counsel to express their concerns fully." Schaller, 143 Wn. App. at 271 (citing Varga, 151 Wn.2d at 200-01; Stenson II, 142 Wn.2d at 731). In this case, Soto was allowed to express his concerns fully on three separate occasions. 2RP 4; 3RP 4-6, 8; 4RP 5-6, 9-10. Upon Soto's second two motions (regarding his difficulties in reaching Mr. Schmidt and the amount of time it was taking to secure DNA evidence), the trial court questioned both Mr. Schmidt and the prosecutor about Soto's concerns. 3RP 6-8; 4RP 4-5, 6-9. This inquiry was more than adequate.

Soto argues that the trial court failed to inquire adequately into the basis of his first motion, which regarded Mr. Schmidt's representation in a prior case, because the trial court did not ask Soto any follow-up questions. Br. of App't at 7-10. He cites language in federal cases, suggesting that trial courts are required to question defendants "privately and in depth," <u>Daniels</u>, 428 F.3d at 1200, and that, "in most circumstances a court can only ascertain the extent of a breakdown in communication by

asking specific and targeted questions," <u>Adelzo-Gonzalez</u>, 268 F.3d at 777-78. Br. of App't at 8 (quoting <u>Daniels</u> and <u>Adelzo-Gonzalez</u>, <u>supra</u>). But these cases are distinguishable. The language they contain must be viewed in context.

In <u>Daniels</u>, the defendant sent the trial court a letter, detailing his concerns about his attorneys. 428 F.3d at 1200. The trial court completely "disregarded" his concerns, and never questioned the defendant or his attorneys regarding any of the issues. <u>Id.</u> When noting that the trial judge should have questioned the defendant "privately and in depth," the <u>Daniels</u> court quoted language from <u>Nguyen</u>, 262 F.3d at 1004—a case in which the trial judge dismissed the defendant's proposed substitute counsel without telling the defendant, did not consult with the defendant about his reasons for wanting a new attorney, denied the defendant's request for a new attorney without explanation, and refused to grant the defendant a continuance in order to retain private counsel, simply because the judge "didn't travel halfway around the world to continue this trial." 262 F.3d at 1000-01.

Nguyen, in turn, derived its "privately and in depth" language from United States v. Moore, 159 F.3d 1154 (9th Cir. 1998). Nguyen, 262 F.3d at 1004 (quoting Moore, 159 F.3d at 1160). In Moore, the trial court failed to question the defendant or counsel on the defendant's allegations

that his trial attorney had an actual conflict of interest because of a close relationship with his co-defendant, and instead urged the defendant and his attorney "to bury the hatchet[.]" 159 F.3d at 1157-60. This was in spite of the fact that the defendant's attorney *admitted* to the conflict of interest, telling the court that he *could not* zealously represent his client. <u>Id.</u> at 1160. These cases are dramatically unlike the case at bar.

Finally, in <u>Adelzo-Gonzalez</u>, when writing that, "[I]n most circumstances a court can only ascertain the extent of a breakdown in communication by asking specific and targeted questions," the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals noted that the record presented "compelling reasons" to inquire further. 268 F.3d at 778. The defendant had alleged that his attorney had threatened to get him sentenced to 105 years in prison, so that he would never see his wife and children again. <u>Id.</u> The attorney opposed his client's motions, tried to prevent him from bringing them, openly called him a liar, and suggested that he had been coached by some unknown third party. <u>Id.</u>

The instant case simply bears no resemblance to these scenarios.

Soto had a full opportunity to explain his allegations in his first motion—
allegations that did not bear further inquiry. Following Soto's second

and third motion (in which Soto did not repeat any concerns about Mr. Schmidt's prior representation), the trial court inquired appropriately of Mr. Schmidt and even the prosecutor. The trial court did not abuse its discretion.

iii. The trial court properly considered the timeliness of the motions.

The trial court correctly noted that Soto's motions for new appointed counsel—brought at least nine months after arraignment, and close to scheduled trial dates—would have created significant delay if granted, because a new attorney would have had to familiarize herself with the case. See 3RP 3 (noting that trial was scheduled "just down the road"); 4RP 10 ("If this Court were to grant your request, and, again, you have not provided me any legal basis, you might as well times that [delay] by two because you'd have a brand new lawyer who wouldn't have a clue what's going on and would have to start all over again where your attorney has already been in order to understand what the evidence is."). A delay would have been especially problematic because one of Soto's chief complaints was that he believed that it was taking too long to bring his case to trial. See 3RP 4 (complaining that case was "taking . . . so

long"); 4RP 10 (asserting that, if Mr. Schmidt did his job better, "it wouldn't, like, take that long").

Courts have found no abuse of discretion where allowing substitute counsel would engender significant delay. See Thompson, 169 Wn. App. at 462-63; State v. Price, 126 Wn. App. 617, 633, 109 P.3d 27 (2005); State v. Stark, 48 Wn. App. 245, 253, 738 P.2d 684 (1987); see also Stenson II, 142 Wn.2d at 732 (observing that where motion for new counsel is made close to trial, "the Court may, in the exercise of its sound discretion, refuse to delay the trial to obtain new counsel and therefore may reject the request" (quoting United States v. Williams, 594 F.2d 1258, 1260-61 (9th Cir. 1979)).

Because Soto's motions were repeatedly brought close to the scheduled trial date, because new counsel would have created significant delay—and especially where Soto's chief complaint was the length of trial preparations—the trial court properly exercised its discretion in denying new counsel.

D. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For all of the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully asks this

Court to affirm Soto's convictions for Unlawful Possession of a Firearm -

First Degree and for Violation of the Uniform Controlled Substances Act - Possession of Methamphetamine.

DATED this 2015.

Respectfully submitted,

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

By:

JACOB R. BROWN, WSBA #44052

Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent Office WSBA #91002